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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE DISTRICT OF MINNESOTA

GARY and CARYL LUIS, GARY A. Case No.
MENTZ, MICHAEL J. VITSE and
MERRI L. VITSE, individually and on
behalf of all others similarly situated,
CLASS ACTION COMPLAINT
Plaintiffs,
v. DEMAND FOR JURY TRIAL

RBC CAPITAL MARKETS, LLC,

Defendant.

Plaintiffs Gary and Caryl Luis, Gary A. Mentz, Michael J. and Merri L. Vitse by
and through their counsel, Scarlett & Hirsch, P.A., and Gustafson Gluek PLLC, bring this
putative class action lawsuit under Minnesota common law, and respectfully request that
the Court issue an award granting Plaintiffs compensatory damages, pre-judgment interest,
post-judgment interest, attorneys’ fees, and costs.

NATURE OF THE ACTION

1. As detailed below, the misconduct of RBC Capital Markets, LLC (“RBC” or
“Defendant”) included, inter alia, breaches of fiduciary duty, negligence, and breach of
contract with respect to the sales of RBC’s proprietary Reverse Convertible Note (“RCN”)
offerings. Defendant’s recommendations for Plaintiffs to invest in the RCNs violated
Plaintiffs’ expressed and written instructions regarding their restrictions on options trading.
Defendant’s conduct caused Plaintiffs to lose a substantial part of their investments in these

products, while RBC reaped staggering financial rewards by executing trades outside the
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clearly established contractual limits of Plaintiffs’ accounts.

2. Reverse Convertible Notes are inherently risky and complex structured
securities with embedded short put options. They are inordinately risky and beyond the
understanding of most of the American investing public.

3. Financial Industry Regulatory Authority (“FINRA”) rules and regulations
required RBC to note on opening account documents the expressed trading authorizations
given to RBC by each Plaintiff. At the time each member of the putative class opened a
brokerage account with RBC, he or she gave RBC express instructions.

4. Each Plaintiff also gave written instructions to RBC with respect to buying
or selling options in his or her account. These instructions, as required by FINRA rules
and regulations, are reflected on the RBC “Options Client Agreement & Approval Form”
(“client options instructions”™), a sample of which is attached hereto as Exhibit A. In the
case of the recommendation by RBC for investment in RCNs, it was necessary that the
client options instructions form authorized selling put options since, as explained above,
each RCN contained an embedded put option that was sold by RBC.

5. Members of the putative class consist of RBC customers who did not
specifically give authorization in writing for selling put options. In other words, the client
options instructions form established whether or not RCNs were permitted in the account.
If the form did not authorize put options, which is the foundational make-up of RCNs, and
RBC executed trades in those investments anyway, the customers who owned those

accounts are members of the putative class.
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6. The Defendant’s bad conduct is evidenced by the fact that FINRA recently
fined RBC $1 Million for not having appropriate supervisory procedures in place for
recommending RCNs.

7. In addition to violating Plaintiffs’ client options instructions, FINRA
uncovered the fact that RBC marketed and sold these complicated, structured securities
without having in place supervisory systems and procedures designed to ensure compliance
with, not only applicable securities laws and regulations, but its own internal guidelines.
FINRA'’s investigation into RBC’s failures to have the appropriate supervisory systems
resulted in a $1 million fine and $432,000 restitution, which RBC agreed to pay (Exhibit
B). In response to FINRA’s findings, RBC signed a Letter of Acceptance, Waiver and
Consent (“AWC”) on February 27, 2015 (Exhibit C), admitting its pervasive rules
violations, agreeing to pay the fine, and restitution and to overhaul its supervisory systems
with respect to the sale of RCNs.

8. At the time Defendant invested Plaintiffs’ funds in the RCN, they did not
authorize investments in put options contained in RCNs. Therefore, RBC’s trades violated
the account opening contracts with each Plaintiff.

THE PARTIES

0. Plaintiffs Gary (64) and Caryl Luis (67) jointly invested $279,126.49 in
RBC reverse convertibles, losing approximately $170,000. Gary retired in 2009 and
Caryl retired in 2005. They did not authorize RBC to engage in selling puts that are
embedded in each and every RCN that Mr. and Mrs. Luis invested in. They are not

sophisticated investors and have never traded in options. They currently reside in Granite

3



CASE 0:16-cv-03873 Document 1 Filed 11/10/16 Page 4 of 18

Bay, California.

10.  Plaintiff Gary A. Mentz (52) invested $36,000 in RBC reverse convertibles,
losing almost the entire investment. Mr. Mentz only gave RBC written authorization to
trade in covert equity/index call writing options, not puts required to purchase RCNs. Mr.
Mentz did not authorize RBC to engage in selling puts that are embedded in each and every
RCN that Mr. Mentz invested in. Mr. Mentz has never traded in options. He currently
resides in Faribault, Minnesota.

11.  Plaintiffs Michael J. Vitse (62) and Merri L. Vitse (61) jointly invested
approximately $12,000 in RBC reverse convertibles, losing almost the entire investment.
They only gave RBC written authorization to trade in covert equity/index call writing
options, not puts required to purchase RCNs. They did not authorize RBC to engage in
selling puts that are embedded in each and every RCN that they invested in. They were not
sophisticated investors and had not traded in options before. They currently live in
Rochester, Minnesota.

12.  Defendant RBC Capital Markets, LLC is a Minnesota Corporation, with its
principal place of business in New York, New York.

JURISDICTION AND VENUE

13.  This Court has jurisdiction over this matter pursuant to the Class Action
Fairness Act of 2005 (“CAFA”), 28 U.S.C. § 1332(d). CAFA’s requirements are satisfied
in that (1) the members of the Class exceed 100; (2) the citizenship of at least one

proposed Class member is different from that of at least one Defendant; and (3) the
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matter in controversy, after aggregating the claims of the proposed Class members,
exceeds $5,000,000, exclusive of interest and costs.

14.  Venue is proper in this federal district because the violations that give rise to
this putative class action occurred in this District. Venue is also proper because Defendant
transacts and has transacted business in this District at times material to this action.

FACTS
Contractual Documents and Fiduciary Duty

15.  Upon opening an investment account with RBC, each Plaintiff entered into
a contract with Defendant. That contract is the Account Opening Agreement. Defendant
breached its contractual promises and its fiduciary duty owed to each Plaintiff by failing to
follow the specific instructions and adhering to clear investment parameters established in
those contracts. That breach occurred when RBC invested Plaintiffs’ money in RCNs,
which contain a put option. Put options are contrary to the express instructions of each
Plaintiff and class member.

An Embedded Put Option Make RCNs Extremely Risky

16.  Plaintiffs suffered devastating losses because their option trading
instructions did not permit RCNs in their accounts.

17.  In contrast to a traditional bond, a RCN contains additional risks tied to an
asset which is often — as it is here — a single, and most always, a volatile stock. RCNs
involve terms, features, and risks that are difficult for individual investors and investment

professionals alike to evaluate.
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18.  RCNs have two components. First, they are debt instruments that pay an
above-market coupon. Second, they are a derivative — an aspect understood by relatively
few investors — in the form of an embedded short put option that gave RBC the right to
repay principal to Plaintiffs in the form of a set amount of the underlying stock, rather than
cash, if the price of the underlying stock dipped below a predetermined price (called the
“knock-in” level or “barrier price”), which it did for all of the Plaintiffs and class members
here as well as all of the RBC investors in the 2015 FINRA enforcement action.

19. FINRA was so concerned with the abuses in the sales of the complicated
reverse convertible notes and the flagrant and pervasive supervisory abuses committed by
RBC that, shortly after it levied the $1.4 million fine and restitution against RBC, an
“Investor Alert” was issued by FINRA specifically because of what FINRA learned about
what RBC had failed to do (Exhibit D).! FINRA alerted investors to the fact that there are
“numerous risks” with reverse convertibles; that they carry “the additional risks of the
unrelated assets, which are often stocks”; that “investors in these products take on

significantly greater risks”; that they are “all but impossible” for investors to determine

! The Investor Alert begins with this statement: “FINRA is reissuing this alert on the
heels of its enforcement action related to supervisory failures resulting in the sale of
unsuitable reverse convertibles.” It also characterized such an investment as a “bet.” The
following is FINRA’s statement in the Alert:

You are betting that the value of the underlying asset will
remain stable or go up, while the issuer [RBC] is betting that
the price will fall.
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what fee they are paying; that there is no principal protection; and that they are highly
illiquid because there is virtually no secondary market for them.

20.  RCNs are not conventional fixed-income investments. A conventional fixed-
income investment, like a bond, carries only a risk attributable to the issuer. An RCN
carries with it not only the issuer’s risk, but the risk and the volatility of the underlying
security — in these cases, stocks. With a RCN, the investor carries 100% of the risk. RCNs
are a terrible deal for the investor, but a terrific deal for RBC. There are several reasons
why this is so. First, numerous studies have found that RCNs are overpriced, i.e., upon
sale, investors pay a premium to the issuer, here RBC, from 2.5% to as much as
7%. Second, once Plaintiffs made the investment, RBC then immediately sold to the open
market the embedded put it purchased as part of the sale, but at a far greater price than was
paid to the investor. This resulted in a profit to RBC of a sufficient amount so as to ensure
that no matter how the RCN performed, RBC would make a profit. Third, to the extent
that the coupon equaled that of RBC’s conventional bond payments, there is a factor of
profit such as RBC makes on its conventional bond issues. Fourth, RBC kept the dividends
that were paid on the underlying stock as long as the stock price remained above the knock-
in level. Fifth, if the stock price fell below the knock-in level, such as happened to all of
the Plaintiffs here, the devalued stock was “put” to the Plaintiffs and any interest payments
by RBC immediately ceased. When all five of these factors are added up, the profit to
RBC far exceeded the total sum of interest payments made to the Plaintiffs, even if the

value of the underlying stock never breached the knock-in level.
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21. The sale of each RCN to Plaintiffs violated each Plaintiff’s express
instructions. Those instructions did not authorize the sale of put options and, as a result,
was not only a breach of fiduciary duty by Defendant, but also a breach of the contract
between each member of the class and Defendant.

22.  Butthere is more potential downside to the investors. They do not gain even
if the underlying stock shoots up in value. If the underlying stock increased in value (which
did not happen to the members of the putative class), RBC would not have passed that
value increase on to the investor. If, on the other hand, there was a significant drop in the
underlying stock price and it breached the knock-in point (which did happen to the
Plaintiffs here), it was the Plaintiffs who suffered the loss in the stock’s value, not
RBC. RBC simply kept the Plaintiffs’ invested principal while the holder of the put option
“put” the devalued shares to Plaintiffs. And, to add insult to injury, if any of the Plaintiffs
decided to sell the devalued underlying stock, they would likely do it through RBC and
would have to pay RBC a commission for the privilege. Simply put, at the time of initial
sale to the investor, RBC was guaranteed to never lose money whether the instrument
converted or whether it successfully reached maturity. Not so with the investor.

Volatile Nature of the Underlying Stock

23.  Each RCN was linked to a volatile stock in order to inflate the price of the

embedded put option on the open market, thereby greatly increasing the profit margin to

RBC.
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24.  Defendant RBC linked most all of its RCNs to volatile stocks, thereby
making the offerings highly risky and costly to the investor, yet extremely profitable for
RBC when the embedded put option was sold on the open market.

25.  RBC chose volatile stocks because volatility adds value to the embedded put
when sold on the open market. Stocks that are volatile go through more frequent strike
price levels than non-volatile stocks. Thus, an option on a volatile stock is much more
expensive to buy on the open market than an option linked to a far less volatile stock. Even
a small change in the volatility estimate can have a substantial impact on an options price.

26. By selling a put option linked to a volatile stock, the risk to the investor was
greatly increased, but RBC designed it that way to increase its profit margin, despite the
fact that the put options violated the express written instructions by each and every
Plaintiff. To give an idea of the volatility injected into the reverse convertibles sold to the
Plaintiffs, the following are examples of some of the volatile stocks linked to the notes sold
to the Plaintiffs:

The Manitowoc Co., Inc. (MTW) — Fluctuated wildly back
and forth between $4 and $49 over the several years prior to
being linked to the reverse convertibles in issue here.

Silver Wheaton Corp. (SLW) — Up and down between $32
and $47 over the months in 2011 prior to being linked to the
reverse convertibles sold to Plaintiffs.

JDS Uniphase Corp. (JDSU) — Went from $8 on January 1,
2011 up to $16 shortly thereafter then down to $8 just prior to
being linked to the reverse convertibles sold to some of the

Plaintiffs.

LDK Solar Corp., Ltd. (LDK) — Presently selling for around
7 cents per share. On a steady and precipitous decline from

9
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approximately $14 per share in the beginning of 2011 down to
less than half of that when it was linked to the reverse
convertible notes recommended by RBC.

Hecla Mining Co. (HL) — Extremely volatile stock. It began
2011 right around $11 and continued to slip through the year

down over 35% to approximately $7 and bouncing back and
forth.

CLASS ALLEGATIONS

27.  Plaintiffs bring this putative class action under Federal Rule of Civil
Procedure 23(a) and (b)(3).

28.  The Class is defined as:

All persons and entities to whom Defendant sold Reverse Convertible Notes

from January 1, 2008 to the present, whose written instructions to RBC did
not authorize selling put options.

29.  Excluded from the putative class are the Defendant, Defendant’s directors
and officers, immediate families of Defendant’s directors and officers, and any entity in
which the Defendant maintained a controlling interest, or that is related to or affiliated with
the Defendant, or the legal representatives, agents, affiliates, heirs, successors-in-interests
or assignees of any such excluded person.

30. The putative class satisfies Rule 23(a) regarding numerosity, typicality,
commonality, superiority, and adequacy.

31.  Numerosity - The members of the putative class are so numerous and
geographically dispersed that joinder of all members would be impracticable. Plaintiffs

estimate the number of putative class members to be several thousand or more. Plaintiffs
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live in numerous states, and the class would not be primarily composed of plaintiffs from
any one state.

32.  The precise number of putative class members can easily be ascertained from
Defendant’s records.

33.  Notice may be provided to class members using first-class mail and other
means.

34.  Typicality — Plaintiffs’ claims are typical of all putative class members’
claims because Plaintiffs and all putative class members’ damages stem from the same
risky RCNs (built upon volatile underlying stocks and unauthorized embedded put
options).

35. Commonality - Common questions of law and fact exist as to all putative
class members and predominate over questions affecting individual putative class
members. Among the questions of law and fact common to the putative class are:

a. Whether RBC invested Plaintiffs and the putative class in RCNs in
violation of their expressed, written instructions with respect to
limitations and lack of authorization to sell put options in their
accounts;

b. Whether RBC breached its fiduciary duty to Plaintiffs and the
purported class by failing to follow their expressed instructions
regarding options trading;

c. Whether RBC breached its duty of care and loyalty to its customers
regarding its sale of the proprietary reverse convertible notes;

d. Whether RBC was unjustly enriched at the expense of Plaintiffs and
the putative class;

11
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e. Whether, and to what extent, Plaintiffs and the putative class were
damaged by RBC’s conduct.

36.  Superiority - A class action is superior to other available methods for the
fair and efficient means to resolve this controversy. The expense and burden of individual
cases for such putative class members make it quite difficult for individual class members
to seek redress against RBC for the misconduct and negligence identified in this putative
class action Complaint. Plaintiffs know of no difficulty that will be encountered in the
management of this litigation that would preclude its maintenance as a class action.

37. Adequacy - Plaintiffs fairly and adequately represent the putative class.
Plaintiff has retained counsel experienced in sophisticated securities class action litigation.

38. Class action treatment is a superior method for the fair and efficient
adjudication of this controversy in that, among other things, such treatment will permit a
large number of similarly situated persons to prosecute their common claims in a single
forum simultaneously, efficiently, and without the unnecessary duplication of evidence,
effort, and expense that numerous individual actions would engender. The benefits of a
proceeding through the class mechanism, including providing injured persons with a
method for obtaining redress for claims that it might not be practicable to pursue
individually, substantially outweigh any difficulties that may arise in management of this
class action.

39.  The prosecution of separate actions would create a risk of inconsistent or
varying adjudications, establishing incompatible standards of conduct for Defendants, and

would frustrate the efforts of this Court in efficiently resolving these claims.

12
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COUNT ONE - BREACH OF FIDUCIARY DUTY

40.  Plaintiffs incorporate here by reference all allegations set forth above, as if

fully here alleged.

41.  Defendant RBC had a fiduciary duty to act in good faith and engage in fair

dealing with Plaintiffs.

42.  Defendant RBC breached its fiduciary duty to Plaintiffs by failing to follow
the expressed and written instructions of the Plaintiffs and members of the putative class
regarding the lack of authorization to engage in selling put options; by selling reverse
convertible notes containing a put option to customers that violated the expressed

instructions of Plaintiffs and members of the putative class.

43.  Defendant’s breach of its fiduciary duty caused Plaintiffs and putative class
members to suffer substantial financial harm; as Defendant stood in the best position to
prevent Plaintiffs and the putative class members from purchasing the reverse convertible
notes. Defendant, instead, put its own financial interests ahead of those of Plaintiffs and

the putative class members.

44.  Plaintiffs and members of the putative class were damaged by RBC’s breach
of its fiduciary duty.

COUNT TWO — COMMON LAW NEGLIGENCE

45.  Plaintiffs incorporate here by reference all the allegations set forth above, as

if fully here alleged.

13
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46. RBC owed a duty of care in all of its business dealings with Plaintiffs and

the putative class members and the duty to follow their expressed instructions.

47.  RBC breached that duty by executing the purchase of reverse convertible
notes in violation of the expressed instructions of Plaintiffs with respect to their lack of
written authorization to invest in securities that contained put options such as the reverse
convertible notes in question here. See Minneapolis Employees Retirement Fund v.
Allison-Williams Co., 519 N.W.2d 176 (Minn. 1994); Rude v. Larson, 207 N.W.2d 709
(Minn. 1973); See also First Presbyterian Church of Mankato, Minn. v. John G. Kinnard
& Co., Inc., 881 F.Supp. 441, 446 (D. Minn. 1995) (complaint adequately alleged that
stockbroker owed his customer the duty to exercise due care in executing all instructions
expressly given to him).

48.  RBC’s violation of its fiduciary duty to follow expressed instructions given
to its registered representatives was the factual and proximate cause of the damages to
Plaintiffs and members of the putative class.

COUNT THREE — BREACH OF CONTRACT

49.  Plaintiffs incorporate here by reference all the allegations set forth above, as
if fully here alleged.

50.  Plaintiffs and all putative class members executed “new account” paperwork
that consisted of contractual agreements that set forth the express instructions and
authorizations of the types of securities Plaintiffs would allow to be offered and sold in

their accounts.

14
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51.  As part of this new account paperwork, Plaintiffs executed specific contracts
for the purchase of option securities. This “Options Client Agreement and Approval
Form,” drafted by RBC, expressly proved for the specific kinds of option securities RBC
could offer and sell to Plaintiffs. A copy of Plaintiff Vitses’ Options Client Agreement and
Approval Forms are attached hereto as Exhibit A.

52. The “Options Client Agreement and Approval Form” is a valid and
enforceable contract.

53.  The “Options Client Agreement and Approval Form” was supported by valid
consideration because the Plaintiffs and putative class members fully performed their
obligations under the contract and paid RBC fees to serve as agent and advisor for their
accounts.

54. RBC executed the sale of RCNs containing an underlying put option, to
Plaintiffs in violation of their express written instructions and authorizations, thereby
breaching its contract with each Plaintiff and member of the putative class.

55.  As adirect, foreseeable, and proximate result of RBC’s breach of contract,
Plaintiffs and members of the putative class suffered great financial harm.

COUNT FOUR - PROMISSORY ESTOPPEL

56.  Plaintiffs incorporate here by reference all the allegations set forth above, as
if fully here alleged.

57.  Defendant RBC entered into direct contracts with Plaintiffs and each putative
class member, and/or was subject to express and implied contracts with third-parties,

including, but not limited to, NASD and FINRA.
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58.  Pursuant to those agreements, Defendant RBC promised to comply with its
fiduciary obligations and securities industry rules and regulations, in accordance with
Defendant RBC’s policies and procedures, to act in good faith and in the client’s best
interests, and to comply with federal laws, state laws, and FINRA Conduct Rules for the
benefit of Plaintiffs.

59.  Those agreements established clear boundaries for the types of investments
that were allowed to be expressly offered and sold for Plaintiffs and the purported Class.
The RCNs in questions violated those express contractual boundaries.

60. RBC’s participation in these industry groups and agreements was intend to
induce its customer’s reliance on its advice.

61.  As aresult of their reliance Plaintiffs were harmed.

COUNT FIVE — UNJUST ENRICHMENT/QUASI-CONTRACT

62.  Plaintiffs incorporate here by reference all the set forth above, as if fully here
alleged.

63. The embedded put option of the RCN led Plaintiffs to confer a financial
benefit on RBC.

64. By the very nature of the product, RBC was able to receive the benefit
whether the underlying stock appreciated, or whether it fell below the knock-in level,
resulting in a loss to the Plaintiffs, despite the fact Plaintiffs and the members of the class
did not authorize RBC to sell them a securities investment that contained a put option.

65. Because of the inherent “win-win” scenario of RCNs to the benefit of RBC

only, RBC was unjustly enriched at the expense of Plaintiffs.

16



CASE 0:16-cv-03873 Document 1 Filed 11/10/16 Page 17 of 18

PRAYER FOR RELIEF

WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs seek the following relief and judgment:

A. That this action is a proper class action, certifying Plaintiffs as Class
Representatives under Fed. R. Civ. P. 23(b)(3) and Plaintiffs’ counsel as Class Counsel;

B. An award of compensatory damages for the RBC reverse convertible notes
that Plaintiffs and the putative class members purchased;

C. Pre-judgment and post-judgment interest, at the legal rate, for Plaintiffs’ loss
of use of capital, as permitted by Minnesota law;

D. All costs and fees incurred in this action including all forum fees, expert
witness-related fees, and any additional costs/fees incurred by the undersigned counsel;

E. A reasonable award for serving as Class Representative; and

F. Such further relief as the Court deems just and appropriate.

JURY TRIAL DEMANDED

Pursuant to Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 38(b), Plaintiff demands a trial by jury

of all of the claims asserted in this Complaint so triable.

Dated: November 10, 2016 Respectfully submitted,
GUSTAFSON GLUEK PLLC

s/David A. Goodwin

Daniel E. Gustafson (#202241)
Daniel C. Hedlund (#258337)
David A. Goodwin (#386715)
Eric S. Taubel (#0392491)
Canadian Pacific Plaza

17
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120 South 6™ Street, Suite 2600

Minneapolis, MN 55402

Tel: (612) 333-8844

Fax: (612) 339-6622

E-mail: dgustafson@gustafsongluek.com
dhedlund@gustafsongluek.com
dgoodwin@gustafsongluek.com
etaubel@gustafsongluek.com

Scott D. Hirsch

Charles E. Scarlett

SCARLETT & HIRSCH, P.A.

7777 Glades Road, Suite 200

Boca Raton, FL 33434

Tel: (561) 278-6707

Fax: (561) 278-6244

E-mail: scott@shlawfla.com
charles@shlawfla.com

Attorneys for Plaintiffs
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| RBCWealth Management™

4

RBC Wealth Management, a division of RBC Capital Markets LLC Member NYSE, FINRA, and SIPC

Dear Options Client:
Thank you for opening an options account with RBC Wealth Management.

It is our firm’s responsibility to carcfully cvaluate your investment needs and objectives,.
along with your financial circumstances, so that we may be in the best possible position
to render investment advice to you.

With this in mind, and in accordance with the rules of the FINRA, your Financial Advisor
submitted the enclosed Options Client Agreement & Approval Form on your behalf.
Based on the information supplied, we have determined that you have sufficient
experience and the financial resources to trade in the options strategies noted on the form.

However, to ensure that we are acting on current and accurate information, we ask you to
do the following:
1. Carefully review the information on the form and notify us immediately if any
information is not accurate.
2. In the future, please advise us of any material changes in your financial status
and/or investment objectives.

WE WILL ASSUME THAT THE INFORMATION PROVIDED ON THE ENCLOSED
CLIENT APPROVAL FORM IS ACCURATE UNLESS YOU ADVISE US TO THE
CONTRARY.

Please feel free to contact your Financial Advisor if you have any questions regarding
your account or the important information provided in the options disclosure document
(Characteristics & Risks of Standardized Options) which you should have already
received.

Again, thank you for your business and the confidence you have shown in our firm.
Sincerely,

RBC Wealth Management

Enclosure
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ooy JCOMPLIANGE
. " APPROVAL™'

P G Sen TN ATRTURGT L TR

Level!  Coverad Equity/Index Call Writing - Colls fully covercd by the underlylng stook/Index. If assigned. client
will be requirert to sell sufficiont shares of stock/index et the sitke price which may be substantially lower
{han tie curvent market price. Potentlal for foas on the stock/Andex position Is substontin), The hedgling
benefit of tho option s limited only to the amount of the promium recelved,
Buying Equity/Index Puts Against Long Stock/Indox Position  Losses are lmited to the promium paid,

Used as insuranco against a decling in ¢ long stosk/index position.

O Lovel?  Cash-Backed Equity/Index/Forelgn Currenay Fut Whriting - Client must hold in the account 100% of the
(Includos  onsh nieaded to pay for the underlying stockfindex at the strike price during tho ifo of the option.
Lovel |
Approval) -

0 Leveld Purchasing Equity/Index/Forelgn Currency Puts and Cuils - Loszes are limited to the premium pald. If
(Includes  position is not closed or wxorcised, options will oxpirs worthloss on expimtion date.
Level 2
Approval)

[0 Leveld EquityIndex/Foreign Curroncy Sproads—Requives the use of margin. 1fthe long position is closed out,
{includes  Jeaving only a short position, the investment bosomes high risk duc to the potentially unlimited finuncial risk
Lovel3  nscumed and such olicnts muy be requited 10 raquest approval g Level § options investors.
Approval) '

] Level5 Equity/Index/Foreign Currency Put Writing on Margin - Cliont may uss cash and marginable securities
(thcludes  to fulfill tho murgin raquirement for the option position.

Lavol 4
Approval)  Uncovered Equity/Index/Foreign Curroncy Call Writing - 1fa clicnt is assigned an Eqully option, they

muy be required to purchose sufficient shorcs of the underlylng stock In the opon market at the prevailing
masket price which may be substantially higher than the strike price in order to sutisfy delivery. Ifassigned
on Index option, client must deliver, in cash, the difference butween the option strike and tho Index
sotiloment vilue, which may ba substantisl. Unooverad eall writing requires the use of margin ond carrles
unlimited finencinl risk.

Writing Equity/Index/Foreign Currency Combinationy/Straddlos - Risk component must be svalunted
on a case by caga basis. These strategies require the use of margin and prosont unlimited fnanelal ik,

Spewinl Signuture Required for Lovel § Options Investors

I ropregont to RBC Wenlth Management, s division of RBC Copltal Markets, LLC, Member
NYSE/FINRA/SIPC, that 1 am & knowledgeable and sophisticated Tuvestor and T hereby sequest that
my seeount be upproved for high risk options atrategics, I further represent that my risk exposure and
\osscs tnken from options trading will be significantly within my financis] capabilitics,

Client Specla! Signnture Dute Client Special Signature Date

Page 20l4 RBG Weallh Management, & divislon of RBC Capttal Markels, LLC, Member NYSE/PINRA/SIPC, OPTA (12110}
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Account Nunber

Rep ID 0005U7 Ahernate Braneh Q10RH
OPRTIONS CLIENT AGREEMENT AND APPROVAL FORM
| SIGNATURES . . RN A it o

Importants Boforo signing, plensa raad the ngrosment on pages 3 nnid 4 of this form,

v Thove Wicﬂé\.’ﬂd the Digelogure Docwmant, “Churactorlstics ond Risks of Stendardized Options,” und am aware of the spaoial risks Inherent in
oplions trading.

» 1 confirm that my financial information, investmant experioneo, and ubjectives ns stnted on this document are accurate,
»  Togres b inform my Financial Advigor of any materlul changes in the above {nformation

+  |have rend, understand, and ogree to the termg and conditions on poges 3 and 4 of this form,

This agreemont contains 8 pre-dispute nrbitration clause, lizted on page 4 In bold pring,

Cliant Signature f d Date Clicnt Signniure - ale
77&,&&4/‘ Gé'd- &5~ PV asrs g

Print Nome from Signulurs Above Print Name from Signaturs Above

S Mot L Vitse
Pinoncial Mm

Approved bg': enciiDireofbr and Azsistant Complex Munoger/

Compliance A%pm\‘ﬁl 4 M ., Da'te
A £ &en
Date of Initin} Tranzaction Mj:)ﬂ

CLIENT OPTIONS AGREEMENT

This agreement shall apply to all transactions hondlad for any sceount of mine. 1 agree to sdvize you in writing of any changes in my finanelnl
situation, neads, experience, knowledge and investment objectives insofur as I deem such changes mutorial to any options transactions,

] understand that any options transaction mads for any account of mine is subjoct to tho rules, regulations, customs and usages of the respective
oxohange, Clonring Corporation or merkot whoro such transuatlon was oxoouted. I, aoting Individuatly or in concart with others, will not cxcsed any
applicable position or exercice limits impostd by an exchange or other market with respeot to options trading, I further understund that it may be
necossary 1o report to the propoer regulatory authority my position in n ¢lass of options having the sume underlying segurity. Ducto the ghort-lerm
nature of aptions, it iz ikely that Y will be trading such options more frequently than stocks and/or bonds. Tunderstand you will charge mo o
commiszion in connectlon with the exarolge of sny options and cach time an options irade 15 effested,

I bulisve thet ] am copablo of evoluating, sarrying and beoring the financial rigks and huzards of options rading, cspeelnlly those attendant to () the
wilting of o cell on asacurity which Is not Jong n my scoount with you or which I do not contamplate purehasing concurmsntly with such call and ()
fhe writing of a put on a security not progently short in my account. [ agree that 1 will in no way hold RIBG Wealth Management, a division of REC
Cupital Markets, LLC, Membor NYSE/FINRA/SIPC, its officers, directors, employees, or agents responsible for such losses Ineurrd throngh
following your trading recommendations or suggestions offered to me in good fulth by your representatives, '

In the event I do not stisfy on a timely basls your request for funds or eollataral, you are authorized st your sole discretlon and without notifiention
1o o 1o teke any and all stops you doarm neacgsary to protaat yourselves,

Y undersland that it is my responsibility to giva you specifio instructions, notico, or direatives with vespeat o taking any action to exerelse, gell, or
liquidate an option prior to the axpiration dote of that option, 1 wndostand thet in the svent I fail to give you inatruotions or take aotion regarding
options positions which are shout 1o expire, you may at your sole discretion exercige, sall, or liquidete those positions; however, you are undes ho
obligation to do o and you ghall not be Jinble for any failyre to act, T will baar full responsibility for taking aollon to exerciss 8 valusble option.

1 undergtand that you randomly assign excreise notlces to olients and thet ull Americnn-siyle short options positlons are subject to nssignment at ony
timo, including now positions that were Just ostablished. I undorgtond that you will provide me with a detalled description of your random allocation
procadurs if1 roquest it uid that exercise ssignment notices aro allocated sécordling o n atfometetl probédufe by which séleGtion s made randomly
from among all your olient short positlons,

In the interest of bettor customer service and for our mutual protection, 1 agree to Inmedlately report any trades or transactions that ware uxotutod
without my authorization; any transsctions which ore not properly reflected on iy conflrmation or monthly atateiment; or uny othor activitios or

Page 3 of 4 REC Wanlth Managamant, a diviaton of RO Capital Markets, LLO, Member NYsEIFlNhNSIPC. OPTA (12/10)
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OPTIONS CLIENT AGREEMENT AND APPROVAL FORM
‘CLIENT OPTIONS AGREEMENT CONTINUEDLL ;L Ll 2 2l '

N Pk g ne e e ey T Y g
B G R S L S N D e o

omissions by you or your agents or employces that I beliove to bo improper. Such communication will be directed to the Manager of the branch
officc where my necoimt is maintained, Unless 1 immedintely okjeat, verbally and in writing, confirmations of tansaotions and stntemonts for my
nceount ghall be binding upon me.

If any provision or condition of this agrooment Is held to be Invalld or uncafbrosnble by any court, regulntory or selfregulntory agency or body, such
jnvalidity or unenforcenbility shull attach only to such provision or condition. The validity of the remaining provisions and conditions of this
pgroanent shall not bo affected thereby, and this agreement shall be carvied out o3 1 anty such Invalld or unenforceable provision or conditlon wers
not contained herein,

Escept to the extent to which thay conflicl with this agroement, if ] heve uxeeutod o Margin Agreoment with you, the provisions of such Mugln
Agroomunt are inoorporated hero In by roforenco, In tho cvent of o conflict, this ngroemont shall control.

AGRECHENT TO ARMTRATE DispUTES

This aproemont containg 4 prodisputo avbitration elauge, By signing an arblivation agrecment the parties agree os follows:

*» Al partics to this agrecment ave giving up the right to sus each other In court, including the right to a trinl by jury, except as provided
by the vules of the srbitratton forum §n which a clalm ls iled,

»  Arbitration awards ave generally fingl and binding: n party’s nbility to have a eourt reverse or mndify an arbitmtion wward s very
Himited.

»  The ubllily of the parties to obtain documents, witness statomonts and othor discovery is gonurally mors limitod in arbitration than in
court proceedings.

«  The arbitrators do not have to explain the reason(s) for their award,
s ‘The punel of arbitrators will typically include a minority of arbitrators who were or are affiliated with the securitics industry.

v+ The rules of some arbitration forums may fmpose time limits for bringing a clalm in arbitvation In somo cases, a clalm that s ineligible
for arbitration may be brought to court.

»  ‘The rules of nrbitratlon forum in which the elain is filed, and any amendments thercto, shall be incorporated into this agreement.

1 ugree, and by carrylng uny sucount for me you agree, that ul) controversies between mo and RBC Wenlth Managomont or any of'lis
prezent or former ngenis or employees concerning any transaction or the construction, performance or breach of this or any agreoment
Detwoon us, whother the trangaction oy the aggreement Is entered Into prior, on, or subsequent to the dute hereof, shall he settled by
arbleatlon pursuant to the Federal Arbitration Act and In acrordanee with the rules, then in cffeat, of the Financinl Industry Regulutory
Authority ("FINRA™). The arbitrability of disputes under this sgreement shali be governed by the Federal Arbitration Act,

SrCcial STATCMENT FOr UncoveRED QrrioN WRITERY

There ore speolnl tisks essoointed with unoovered option swriling, which expose the investor to potentislly significant lozs. Therefore, this type of
swraiegy may fot be sultable for all clients approved for options transactions.

I The potenticl logs of uncoverad call writing 1s unlimited. The writer of an uncovered call Is In an extromely tisky posltion nd may Inour
Intge Josses If the value of the underlying instrument increagog above the exercige price.

2. Aswilh writing uncovered calls, the rlak of wrlting uncovered put options Is substantial, ‘The wiiter of an uncovered put option bears a risk
of loss if the value of the underlying instrument declincs below the excroiss prive, Such lews could be substantinl if there is o signifioant
decling in the value of the underlying instrumont,

3. Uncovered option weiting is thus suitoble only for the knowledgeable investor who understnds the risks, has the financial eapacity and
willingness to incar potantially guhstantial lasses, and hes su mciantmuld assels 1o meat appllentls mergin sequitements, In this regnrd, it
tho value of the underlying Inatrument moves agalnst an uncovered weiler’s option positlon, the investor’s broker mey request significant
agditlonal margin pryments, 1Fan investor dose not make sush morgin peymants, the brokoer may lgquidate gtoak or optiong posliions in the

{nvestor’s necount, with ttle or no prior notice in accordance wilh the investor's Murgin Agreamont.
4. Forcombination wrling, where the lnvestor writes both a put snd o call on the same underlying instrument, the patentinl risk is unlimited.

S Irascoondary market in options wais 1o baoome unavailable, Investors could not onguge In closing trensactions, and an option writer
would remain obligated wntil expiration or assignment,

6. The writcr of an American-style option is subject to being nssigned an exorcizo ot any time after ho has willten tho optlen unti| the optlon
exphras, By contragl, the writer of o Eutopean-style optlon is suljjectto exercice assignment only on expiration date,

NOTE: It is expeoted that you will rend the booklet enfitled CHARACTERISTICS AND RISKS OF STANDARDIZED OPTIONS
available from your Pinancinl Advisar, In particular, your altention is direcled (o the chapter antitled Risks of Buying and Writing Oprions, This
statement is not intended to ontmorat all of the risks ontailed in writing uncovered options,

Page 4 of 4 RHG Weallh Managemant, s division of RBG Capital Markats, LLG, Membar NYSE/FINRA/SIPC.. OPTA (12/10)
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Financial industey Regulatory Authanily

Mews Release

FINRA Orders RBC to Pay Fine and Restitution Totaling More
Than $1.4 Million for Unsuitable Sales of Reverse Convertibles

For Releaso: Fhursday, April 22, 2ot

Cortbactisl: Mickelle Ong (zoz} 728-8464

Neney Condon {202} 728-89r0

WASHINGTON — The Financial Industry Regulatory Authority (FINRA) today announced that it has ordered
RBC Capital Markets to pay a 31 million fine and approximately $434,000 in restitution to customers for
supervisory failures resulting in sales of unsuitable reverse converiibles.

Brad Bennett, FINRA Executive Vice President and Chief of Enforcement, said, "Securities firms must ensure
that their brokers understand the inherent risks associated with the complex products they are selling, and be
able to determine if they are suitable for investors before recommending them to retail customers. When the firm
establishes suitability guidelines, it must police the transactions to ensure they appropriately meet their own
criteria."

Reverse convertibles are interest-bearing notes in which repayment of principal is tied to the performance of an
underlying asset, such as a stock or basket of stocks. Depending on the specific terms of the reverse
convertible, an investor risks sustaining a loss if the value of the underlying asset falls below a certain level at
maturity or during the term of the reverse convertible. In February 2010, FINRA issued Regulatory Notice 10-09
specific to reverse convertibles, emphasizing the need for firms to perform a suitability analysis in connection
with sales of this complex product.

FINRA found that RBC falled to have supervisary systems reasonably designed to identify transactions for
supervisory review when reverse convertibles were sold to customers, in violation of FINRA's rules as well as the
firm's own suitability guidelines. RBC established suitability guidelines for the sale of reverse convertibles setting
specific criteria for customer investment objectives, annual income, net worth, liquid net worth and invesiment
experience, Consequently, the firm failed to detect the sale by 99 of its registered representatives of 364 reverse
convertible transactions in 218 accounts that were unsuitable for those customers. The customers incurred
fosses totaling at least $1.1 miilion. RBC made payments fo numerous customers pursuant fo the settlement of a
class action lawsuit; FINRA ordered resiitution to the remainder of affected customers.

in settling this matter, RBC neither admitted nor denied the charges, but consented to the entry of FINRA's
findings.

FINRA's investigation was conducted by the Enforcement Depariment. FINRA appreciates the assistance of the
Securities and Exchange Commission’s Office of Compliance, Inspections and Examinations in this matter,

https.//www finra.org/newsroom/2015/finra-orders-rbe-pay-fine-and-restitution-totaling-...  10/26/2015
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Investors can abtain more information about, and the disciplinary record of, any FINRA-registered broker or
brokerage firm by using FINRA's BrokerCheck. FINRA makes BrokerCheck available at no charge. In 2014,
members of the public used this service to conduct 18.8 million reviews of broker or firm records. Investors can
access BrokerCheck at www finra.org/brokercheck or by calling (800) 289-9999. Investors may find copies of this
disciplinary action as well as other disciplinary documents in FINRA's Disciplinary Actions Online database.

FINRA, the Financial Industry Regulatory Authority, is the targest independent regulator for all securities firms
doing business in the United States. FINRA is dedicated to investor protection and market integrity through
effective and efficient regulation and complementary compliance and technology-based services. FINRA touches
virtually every aspect of the securities business — from registering and educating all industry participants to
examining securities firms, writing rules, enforcing those rules and the federal securities faws, and inferming and
educating the investing public. In addition, FINRA provides surveillance and other reguiatory services for equities
and options markets, as well as trade reporting and other industry utilities. FINRA also administers the targest
dispute resolution forum for investors and firms. For more information, please visit www.finra.org.

Sitermap | Privacy | Legal

Q2015 FINRA

https://www.finra.org/newsroom/2015/ finra-orders-rbe-pay-fine-and-restitution-totaling-... ~ 10/26/2015



CASE 0:16-cv-03873 Document 1-3 Filed 11/10/16 Page 1 of 11

EXHIBIT C



CASE 0:16-cv-03873 Document 1-3 Filed 11/10/16 Page 2 of 11

FINANCIAL INDUSTRY REGULATORY AUTHORITY
LETTER OF ACCEPTANCE, WAIVER AND CONSENT
NO. 2010022918701

TO:  Department of Enforeement
Financial Industry Regulatory Authority (“FINRA™)

RE:  RBC Capital Markets, LLC, Respondent
CRD No. 31194

Pursuant to FINRA Rule 9216 of FINRA’s Code of Procedure, RBC Capital Markets, LLC
(“RBC”, “Respondent”, or the “Firm’) submits this Letter of Acceptance, Waiver and Consent
(“*AWC") for the purpose of proposing a settlement of the alleged rule violations described
below. This AWC is submitted on the condition that, if accepted, FINRA will not bring any
future actions against RBC alleging violations based on the same factual findings described
herein.

L
ACCEPTANCE AND CONSENT

A, RBC hereby accepts and consents, without admitting or denying the findings, and
solely for the purposes of this proceeding and any other proceeding brought by or
on behalf of FINRA, or to which FINRA is a party, prior to a hearing and without
an adjudication of any issue of law or fact, to the entry of the following findings
by FINRA:

BACKGROUND

RBC has been a FINRA registered broker-dealer since 1993 and maintains its principal place of
business in New York, NY. The Firm is indirectly owned by the Royal Bank of Canada, which
is a publicly Jisted company on the New York Stock Exchange. The Firm has two main lines of
business, a Capital Markets division, which engages in dealing, underwriting, and customer
facilitation activities, and a Wealth Management division, which provides private client, asset
management, and correspondent brokerage services. The Firm operates approximately 280
branches and has approximately 5,300 registered representatives.

RELEVANT DISCIPLINARY HISTORY

The Firm’s relevant disciplinary history is as follows:

" D March 3, 2008, RBC Dain Rauscher inc. merged with its affiliate, RBC Capital Markets Corporation, In
connection with this merger, RBC Dain Rauscher Inc., CRD No. 31194, was renamed RBC Capital Markets
Corporation. The name was later amended to RBC Capital Markets, LLC.
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¢ RBC consented to findings that it violated NASD Rules 3010 and 2110 and FINRA Rule
2010 by failing to establish a supervisory system reasonably designed 1o ensure
compliance with its own guidelines and FINRA Rule 2440 regarding permissible
markups and markdowns for its Collateralized Mortgage Obligations (“CMO”).
Consequently, in 234 CMO transactions with mostly retail customers, the Firm charged
markups and markdowns as high as 16.9%. The Firm consented to a sanction consisting
of a censure and a $25,000 fine. See RBC Capital Markets LLC, Matter No.
200902094501 (AWC, December 2011).

* RBC consented to findings that it violated Section 5 of the 1933 Securities Act and
NASD Rules 3010 and 2110 by executing customer sale orders for more than two billion
unregistered shares and eight issuers and by failing to establish, maintain and enforce a
system lo supervise the activities of its associated persons that was reasonably designed
to detect and prevent customers’ sales of more than two billion shares of unregistered
securities. The Firm consented to a sanction consisting of a censure and a $135,000 fine.
See RBC Capital Markets LLC, Matter No. 20090205457 (AWC, December 2009).

OVERVIEW

Between 2008 and 2012 (the “Relevant Period™), RBC failed 1o have in place supervisory
systems and procedures reasonably designed to ensure_compliance with applicable securities
laws and regulations and its internal guidelines concerning the suitability of reverse convertibles.
The Firm’s supervisory system and procedures did not adequately identify transactions for
responsible supervisory personnel when reverse converiibles were sold to customers in violation
of the Firm's suitability guidelines, including those related to customer investment objectives,
annual income, net worth and liquid net worth. Consequently, during the Relevant Period, RBC
supervisors failed to detect the sale by 99 of its registered representatives of approximately 364
reverse convertible transactions in approximately 218 customer accounts that were unsuitable for
those customers. These customers incurred losses totaling at least $1.1 million.

Accordingly, the Firm violated NASD Rules 3010(a), 2310 and 2110 and FINRA Rule 2010.

FACTS AND VIOLATIVE CONDUCT

Structured products are debt securities derived from or based on a single security, a basket of
securities, an index, a commodity, a debt issuance and/or a foreign currency. Structured products
typically have two components — a note and a derivative (often an option). There are many types
of structured products. Some structured products offer full protection on the principal invested,
whereas others offer limited or no principal protection. Many structured products pay an interest
or coupon rate substantially above the prevailing market rate. Structured products also
frequently cap or limit the upside participation in the reference asset, particularly if some
principal protection is offered or if the security pays an above-market rate of interest.

Reverse convertibles, a complex structured product, are in'te}c'si‘-'bc'giﬁ‘ljg notes in which principal
repayment is linked to the performance of a reference asset, 'often a stock, a basket of stocks or
an index. The reference asset is generally unrelated to the issuer of the note. At maturity, if the
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value of the reference asset has fallen below a certain ievel (the “knock-in level”), the investor
may receive less than a full retum of principal. The diminished principal repayment could be in
the form of shares of stock put to the investor or their cash equivalent. “Reverse convertibles -
cxpose investors not only to the risks traditionally associated with fixed income products, such as
issuer risk, but also to the risks of a decline in value in the underlying reference asset, which can
lead to loss of principal. Reverse convertibles tend to have limited liquidity and complex pay-
out structures that can make it difficult for registered representatives and their customers to
accurately assess their risks, costs, and potential benefits, :

Regulatory Guidance

Reverse convettibles are not suitable for every customer and FINRA Notices to Members
(*NTM”) regarding structured products generally and reverse convertibles in particular have set
forth guidance to the membership regarding their sale. FINRA issued NTM 05-59 as a result of
concerns that broker dealers were deficient in fulfilling sales practice obligations when selling
structured products, particularly to retail customers. The Notice advised that some structured
products present risks similar to that of opticns and that FINRA members should develop
procedures to ensure that the structured products sold to jnvestors matched those investors’
appetite for risk. FINRA reminded firms to perform a reasonable suitability determination on a
structured product before recommending the product, as well as a customer specific suitability
determination. FINRA also instructed firms that they must train brokers and their supervisors
about each type of structured product before the brokers sell the product to investors.

In February 2010, FINRA issued NTM 10-09 that is specific to reverse convertibles and
reiterates the need for firms to perform reasonable basis suitability as well as customer specific
suitability analyses in connection with the sales of reverse convertibles. The Notice directs firms
to make “reasonable efforts to obtain information concerning: (1) the customer's financial status;
(2) the customer’s tax status; (3) the customer's investment objectives; and (4) such other
information used or considered to be reasonable by such member or registered representative in
making recommendations to the customer.” In sum, NTM 10-09 seeks to ensure that “{reverse

convertibles] are only sold to persons for whom the risk of such products is appropriate.”

The Firm Failed to Establish Reasonable Systems and Procedures to Supervise Sales of
Reverse Convertibles

NASD Rule 3010(a) requires members to, among other things, “establish and maintain a system
to supervise the activities of each registered representative, registered principal, and other
associated person that is reasonably designed to achieve compliance with applicable securities
laws and regulations, and with applicable NASD Rules. Final responsibility for supervision shall
rest with the member.”

As noted above, NTM 10-09 requires FINRA registered firms that sell reverse convertibles to
“have adequate [and reasonably-designed] written supervisory procedures and supervisory
controls...to ensure that sales of.,, [reverse convertibles] comply with federal securities laws and
FINRA rules.”
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Both NASD Rule 2110 and FINRA Rule 2010 provide that “[a] member, in the conduct of its
business, shall observe high standards of commercial honor and just and equitable principies of
trade.” Violations of federal securities laws and NASD rules are viewed as violations of NASD
Rule 2110 because members of the securities industry are expecled and required to abide by the
applicable rules and regulations.'

During the Relevant Period the Firm offered at ieast 3, 000 dlfferenl reverse convemb]c products
to its customers. -The Firm effected through apprommale]y 360 of its registered representatives
in excess of 100,000 reverse convertible transactions in at least 5,000 customer aceounts durmg
the Relevant Period.

However, during the Relevant Period RBC ‘did not have in place systems and procedures
reasonably designed to ensurc compliance with applicable securities laws and regulations,
NASD/FINRA Rules and its own written supervisory procedures (“WSPs”) in connection with
its sale of reverse convertibles.

The Firm’s WSPs for structured product sales set forth suitability requirements and guidelines
for sales of reverse convertibles that addressed customer investment objectives and financial
profiles as well as requirements for registered representative training. The WSPs prohibited the
sale of reverse convertibles to any customer that listed his or her investment objective as
“Preservation of Principal/Income,”

Additionally, the applicable WSPs established suitability guidelines for the sale of  reverse. .
convertibles pursuant to which investors were expected to have the following proﬁle {®)."
$100,000 annual income; (b) $100,000 in laquld assets; (c) $250,000 net worth (collectively, the
“Financial Criteria”™); and (d) two years of prior investment experience.

The Firm’s WSPs further required registered representatives to complete a web-based structured
products training module prior to soliciting sales of structured products.

However, the Firm lacked reasonable systems to ensure that its WSPs for sales of reverse
convertibles were followed by RBC registered representatives who sold this product to their
retail customers.

Unreasonably Designed Snrveﬂlance Systems

The Firm provnded its ‘managers ‘with an eélectronic transaction surveillance system called
ProSury to .review all irading actxvny, mcludmg reverse convemble transactions. ProSurv,
however, did not generate reporis umquc to reverse convemble transactions or that measured
reverse convertible transactions against applicable requirements and guidelines. For example,
ProSurv did not flag reverse convertible transactions where a customer’s annual i income, liquid

' FINRA Rule 2010 shperscded NASD Rule 2110 effective December 15, 2008.

2 Until February 2009, the Firm's WSPs indicated that structured products investors “must™ meet the Financial
Criteria. Thereafter, the WSPs indicated that structured products investors “should"_ meet the Financial Criteria.
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assets, net worth or investrent objective was inconsistent with the requirements and guidelines
of the Firm’s applicable WSPs. . These limitations of the ProSurv system in reviewing reverse

convertible transactions continued through the remainder of the Relevant Period and until early

2013. Thus, for a period of at least five years the Firm’s electronic surveillance systemns did not

review transactions for compliance with the requirements and guidelines of its WSPs applicable

to reverse convertibles. '

Unreasonably Designed and lmplemented Exception Reports

Prior 10 Junc 2008, the Firm generated and d:stnbutcd ':‘?évgislé zédh\keiﬁt"ible-.‘_ré[atgd_,__e,xcepti_on
reports .1o. Complex Diregtors only sporadically ‘on an *as needed” ‘basis as requested by :
individual Complex Directors' and without the Firm's guidance or direction.

Thereafler, in January 2009, the Firm began issuing to the Firm's Complex Directors a quarterly
exception report for reverse convertible transactions (the “Quarterly Report™). However, the
Quarterly Report was also an ineffective supervisory tool given that it was created and reviewed
only afler the transactions had been effected. [n addition, this report was issued only on a
quarterly basis, thereby allowing potentially non-compliant transactions to remain in effect
without review for up to three months afier they were effected,

Additionally, the Firm lacked any written escalation procedures requiring notification and/or
consultation with the Firm’s compliance department when potentially violative transactions were
identified,

During the Relevant Period, the Firm effected at least 237 reverse convertible transactions where
the customer had an investment objective of Preservation of Principal/Income. In addition, from
January 1, 2008 through December 31, 2010, of the 9,200 reverse convertible transactions where -
the stock hit the knock-in level at or about the time of maturity, more than 5,600 reverse
convertible transactions failed to meet one or more of the three Financial Criteria, with at least
127 reverse convertible transactions failing to meet all three criteria. Each of these referenced
transactions was effected in violation of the Firm’s WSPs without being detected by the Firm’s
applicable supervisory systems and procedures or being identified as violative by the Firm’s
supervisory personnel.

The foregoing is demonstrative of the Firm’s failure to implement a reasonable system of follow-
up and review to ensure that it sold reverse convertibles only to those customers for whom the
product was suitable. Specifically, the Firm failed to ensure that it implemented reasonably
designed systems and procedures to flag for its supervisory personnel potentially unsuitable
transactions in reverse convertibles and ensure that its registered persons were adequately trained
regarding the risks mssociated with reverse convertibles and the customers for whom such
investments were suitable,

By the foregoing, the Firm violated NASD Rules 3010 and 2110 and FINRA Rule 2010.

A Complex was composed of various branch offices established in an identified gecgraphical area. The Firm had
approximately 35 Complexes during the Relevant Period. Camplex Directors had primary responsibility to review
all trading activity occurring within their Complexes.
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Unsuitable Reverse Convertible Transactions

NASD Rule 2310(a) requires that, in recommending the purchase, sale or exchange of any
security, 8 member have a reasonable basis for believing that the recommendation is suitable for
a customer based upon the customer’s financial situation and needs. NASD Rule 2310(b) also
requires that prior to the execution of a transaction, a member make reasonable efforts to obtain
information concerning a customer’s financial status,

Structured products generally and reverse convertibles in particular are not suitable for every
. customer and FINRA NTMs have provided guidance to members regarding the parameters for
suitability as noted above. As noted above, FINRA NTM 03-59, in effect during the Relevant
Period provides guidance on member obligations when selling structured products. “These
include the requirements to: (1) ascertain accounts eligible to purchase structured products; (2)
perform a reasonable-basis suitability determination; (3) perform a customer specific suitability -
determination; (4) supervise and maintain a supervisory control system; and (5) train associated
persons. Further, FINRA recognized in NTM 10-09 the unique nature of reverse convertibles
and directed firms to perform a reasonable basis, as well as customer specific suitability analysis,
for each recommended reverse convertible purchase in order to ensure that “freverse
convertibles] are only sold to persons for whom the risk of such products is appropriate.”

From January 1, 2008 through December 31, 2010, of all the reverse convertible sales where the
stock price dropped below the knock-in level at or about the time of maturity, 127 were
recommended and sold by RBC in 100 customer accounts that listed an annual income below

i .~ $100,000, liquid assets of less than $100,000 and a net worth below $250,000. In addition, from

January 1, 2008 through December 31, 2012, RBC permitted its registered representatives to
- recommend and sell 237 unsuitable reverse convertibles in more than 100 customer accounts that

*listed the conservalive investment objective of “Preservation of Principal/ Income.” Losses
"7+, incurred by these customers totaled at least $1.1 million.

Given the nature of the reverse convertible product, these transactions exposed the referenced
customers to a risk of loss that was inconsistent with their risk tolerance, investment objectives
and financial status and RBC did not have reasonable grounds to believe that the
recommendation and sale of reverse convertibles were suitable for these customers, Morcover,
the guidelines articulated in the Firm’s own WSPs establish that reverse convertibles should not
have been sold to these customers.

By virtue of the forgoing conduct, RBC violated NASD Rules 2310 and 2110 and FINRA Rule
2010.

B. The Firm also consents to the imposition of the following sanctions;
a. A censure;

b. A fine in the amount of § 1 million; and
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¢. Restitution in the amount of $433,898.10.

RBC agrees to pay the monetary sanctions upon notice that this AWC has been accepted and that
such payments are due and payable. RBC has submitted an Election of Payment form showing
the method by which it proposes to pay the fine imposed.

RBC specifically and voluntarily waives any right to claim that it is unable to pay, now or at any
time hereafter, the monetary sanction(s) imposed in this matter.

Restitution is ordered to be paid to the customers listed on Attachment A herefo in the total
amount of $433,898.10, plus interest at the rate set forth in Section 6621(a)(2) of the Internal
Revenue Code, 26 U.S.C. 6621(a)(2), from the respective dates indicated, until the date this
AWC is accepted by the NAC.

A registered principal on behalf of Respondent firm shall submit satisfactory proof of payment of
restitution or of reasonable and documented efforts undertaken to efiect restitution. Such proof
shall be submitted to Josefina Martinez at One World Financial Center, 200 Liberty Street, New
York, NY 10281 either by letter that identifies the Respondent and the case number or by e-mail
from a work-related account of the registered principal of Respondent firm to
EnforcementNotice@FINRA.org.  This proof shall be provided to the FINRA staff member
listed above no later than 120 days after acceptance of the AWC,

If for any reason Respondent cannot locate any customer identified in Attachment A after
reasonable and documented efforts within 120 days from the date the AWC is accepted, or such
additional period agreed to by a FINRA staff member in writing, Respondent shall forward any
undistributed restitution and interest to the appropriate escheat, unclaimed property or abandoned
property fund for the state in which the customer is Jast known to have resided. Respondent shall
provide satisfactory proof of such action to the FINRA staff member identified above and in the
manner described above, within 14 days of forwarding the undistributed restitution and interest
to the appropriate state authority.

Respondent has specifically and voluntarily waived any right to claim an inability to pay at any
time hereafter the monetary sanctions imposed in this matter,

The imposition of a restitution order or any other monetary sanction herein, and the timing of
such ordered payments, does not preclude customers from pursuing their own actions to obtain
restitution or other remedies.

The sanctions imposed herein shall be effective on a date set by FINRA staff.

* The Firm made payments to moare than 100 of customers pursuant to the settlement of a class action law suit
brought against the Firm in the Superior Court of the State of California, County of Los Angeles. Enforcement will
not require the payment of restitution to those customers that received a payout pursuant to the settlement of that
lawsuit.
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H.
WAIVER OF PROCEDURAL RIGHTS

RBC specifically and voluntarily waives the following rights granted under FINRA’s Code of
Procedure:

A, To have a Complaint issued specifying the allegations against it;

B. To be notified of the Complaint and have the opporfunity to answer the
allegations in writing;

C. To defend against the allegations in a disciplinary hearing before a hearing panel,
to have a written record of the hearing made and 1o have a written decision issued:
and '

D. To appeal any such degision to the National Adjudicaiory Couneil (“NAC™) and
then to the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission and a U.S. Court of

Appeals.

Further, RBC specifically and voluntarily waives any right to claim bias or prejudgment of the
General Counsel, the NAC, or any member of the NAC, in connection with such person’s or
body’s participation in discussions regarding the terms and conditions of this AWC, or other
consideration of this AWC, including acceptance or rejection of this AWC.

RBC further specifically and voluntarily waive any right to claim that a person violated the ex
parte prohibitions of FINRA Rule 9143 or the separation of functions prohibitions of FINRA
Rule 9144, in connection with such person’s or body's participation in discussions regarding the
terms and conditions of this AWC, or other consideration of this AWC, including its acceptance
or rejection.

1i1.
GTHER MATTERS
|  RBC understands that:
A. Submission of this AWC is voluntary and will not resolve this matter unless and

until it has been reviewed and accepted by the NAC, a Review Subcommitiee of
the NAC, or the Office of Disciplinary Affairs (“ODA"), pursuant to FINRA Rule
9216;

B. If this AWC is not accepted, its submission will not be used as evidence to prove
any of the allegations against RBC; and
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C. If accepted:

1. this AWC will become part of RBC’s permanent disciplinary record and
may be considered in any future actions brought by FINRA or any other
regulator against the Firm;

2. this AWC will be made available through FINRA's public disclosure
program in accordance with FINRA Rule 8313;

3. FINRA may make a public announcement concerning this agreement and
the subject matter thereof in accordance with FINRA Rule 8313; and

4. RBC may not take any action or make or permit to be made any public
statement, including in regulatory filings or otherwise, denying, directly or
indirectly, any finding in this AWC or create the impression that the AWC
is without factual basis. RBC may not take any posifion in any proceeding
brought by or on behalf of FINRA, or to which FINRA is a party, that is
inconsistent with any part of this AWC. Nothing in this provision affects
the Firm’s: (i) testimonial obligations; or (ii) right to take legal or factual
positions in litigation or other legal proceedings in which FINRA is not a
party.

D. RBC may attach a Corrective Action Statement to this AWC that is a statement of
demonstrable corrective steps taken to prevent future misconduct. RBC
understands that it may not deny the charges or make any statement that is
inconsistent with the AWC in this Statement. This Statement does not constitute
factual or legal findings by FINRA, nor does it reflect the views of FINRA or its
staff.
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The undersigned, on behalf of the Firm, certifies that & person duly quthorized to act on its behalf
has read and understands all of the provisions of this AWC and has been given a full opportunity
10 ask questions ahout it; thet RBC has agreed to its provisions voluntarily; and that no offer,
threat, inducement, or promise of any kind, other than the terms set forth herein and the Pprospect
of avoiding the issusnce of a Complaint, has been made to induce RBC to submit it.

Ty 2 2005 - ,(Zj 2-/(-%/»—-’—\

Date: 2015 RBC Capital Markets, LLC

By: ?@ﬁ [.. (?‘:VLL"Q""‘

wed Hy: waf Cm’w‘ﬁvf
N MM i o, g
Eric S, Seltzer v FE AN (pr"u N‘”’kﬁ'{ﬂ tlc

Counse} for Respondent

Sidley Austin LLP

85 Exchange Streat

Portland, ME 04101

{207) 780-8272

Accepted by FIMRA:

Rl 13 20087 Signed on bekalf of the

Date " Director of ODA, by delegated authority
Susan Light
Senior Vice President & Chief Counscl
FINRA Depantment of Enforcement
Qne World Finaneial Canter
200 Liberty Street
New York, NY 1028)
(646) 315-7333
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EXHIBIT D
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Reverse Convertibles—Complex Investment Vehicles

Update: FINRA is reissuing this alert on the heels of its enforcement action related to supervisory failures
resulting in the sale of unsuitable reverse convertibles. The alert details the numercus risks associated with
reverse convertibles, including their often complex features.

Over the past few years, brokerage firms and banks have been issuing and marketing complex investments
known in the industry as "structured products” to individual investors. These include "reverse convertibles,”
which are poputar in part because of the high yields they offer.

Also known as "revertible notes" or "reverse exchangeable securities"—and sold under a variety of proprietary
names that may or may not use the term "structured” to describe the product—reverse convertibles are debt
obligations of the issuer that are tied to the performance of an unreiated security or basket of securities. _
Although often described as debt instruments, they are far more complex than a traditional bond and involve
elements of options tfading. Reverse convertibles expose investors not only to risks traditionally associated
with bonds and other fixed income products—such as the risk of issuer default and inflation risk—but also to
the additional risks of the unrelated assets, which are often stocks.

FINRA is issuing this alert to inform investors of the features and risks of reverse convertibles. They are
compiex investments that often involve terms, features and risks that can be difficult for individual investors
and investment professionals alike to evaluate. If you are considering a reverse convertible, be prepared to
ask your broker or other financial professional lots of questions about the product's risks, features and fees
and why it's right for you.

‘What Is a Reverse Convertible?

A reverse convertible is a structured product that generally consists of a high-yield, short-term note of the
issuer that is linked to the performance of an unrelated reference asset—often a single stock but sometimes a
basket of stocks, an index or some other asset. The product works like a package of financial instruments that
typically has two components:

a debt instrument (usually a note and often called the "wrapper"} that pays an above-market
coupon (on a maonthly or quarterly basis); and

a derivative, in the form of a put option, that gives the issuer the right o repay principal to the
investor in the form of a set amount of the underlying asset, rather than cash, if the price of the
underlying asset dips below a predetermined price (often referred to as the "knock-in" level).

https://www.finra.org/investors/alerts/reverse-convertibles_complex-investment-vehicles 10/24/2015
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When you purchase a reverse convertible, you're getting a yield-enhanced bond. You do not own, and do not
get to participate in any upsnde appreciation of, the underlying asset. Instead, in exchange for higher coupon
payments during the life of the note, you effectively give the issuer a put option on the underlying asset.

You are betting that the value of the underlying asset will remain stable or go up, while the issuer s betting -
that the price will fall. In the typical best case scenario, if the value of the underlying asset stays above the
knock-in level or even rises, you can receive a high coupon for the life of the investment and the return of your
full principaf in cash. In the worst case, if the value of the underlying asset drops below the knock-in level, the
issuer can pay back your principal in the form of the depreciated asset—which means you can wind up losing
some, or even all, of your principal (offset only partially by the monthly or quarterly interest payments you
received and the ownership of shares in the devaluated asset).

A reverse convertible might make sense for an investor who wants a higher stream of current income than is
currently avaiiable from other bonds or bank products-—and who is willing to give up any appreciation in the
value of the underlying asset. But, in exchange for these higher ylelds Investors in these products take on -
significantty greater risks. -

How Do Reverse Convertibles Work?

The initial investment for most reverse convertibles is $1,000 per security, and most have maturity dates
ranging from three months to one year. The interest or "coupon rate” on the note component of a reverse
convertible is usually higher than the yield on a conventional debt instrument of the issuer—or of an issuer
with a comparable debt rating.

For example, some recently issued reverse convertibles have annualized coupon rates of up to 30 percent. A
reverse convertibie’s higher yield reflects the risk that, instead of a full return of principal at maturity, the
investor could receive less than the full return of principal if the value of the unrelated reference asset falls
below the knock-in level the issuer sets. For a reference asset that is a single stock, the knock-in level can be
20 percent or more below the original price. Since this means that if the stock drops in value but does not
break through the knock-in price, the reverse convertible provides you with some conditional downside
protection {(as explained below) not available if you just own the underlying asset. For this protection, you do
give up any opportunity to participate in upside growth of the underlying asset.

Depending on how the underlying asset performs, you will receive either your principal back in cash or a
predetermined number of shares of the underlying stock or asset (or cash equivalent), which amounts to iess
than your original investment (because the asset's price has dropped). While each reverse convertible has its
own terms and conditions, you will generally receive the full amount of your principal in cash if the price of the
reference asset remains above the knock-in level throughout the life of the note. In some cases, you will also
receive a full return of principal if the price of the reference asset ends above the knock-in level at maturity,
even if it has fallen below it during the term of the investment—although in other cases, any breach of the
knock-in level will resuit in your receiving less than the original principal. However, you typically will not
participate in any appreciation in the value of the reference asset during the life of the note.

Reverse convertibles can have complex pay-out structures involving muitiple variables that can make it
difficult to accurately assess their risks, costs and potential benefits. For example, a hypothetical payoff
structure of a reverse convertible with common stock as the reference asset could result in the following
scenarios:

Scenario:
1. The stock price never _dec,jl_in_es below the knock-in level, but ends below the_or;ginal price.

https://www.finra.org/investors/alerts/reverse-convertibles_complex-investment-vehicles 10/24/2015
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Stock Price Visual:
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At maturity, the investor gets:
Full return of principal in cash (despite the decline in the stock price), plus any fixed coupon payments.

Scenario:

Stock Price Visual:
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At maturity, the investor gets:
Full return of principal in cash, plus any fixed coupon payments, but no participation in the increase in the
stiock price.

Scenario:
3. The stock price ends below the knock~i_n level.

https://www.finra.org/investors/alerts/reverse-convertibles_complex-investment-vehicles 10/24/2015
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Stock Price Visual:
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At maturity, the investor gets:
Predetermined number of shares of stock (or cash eguivalent), worth less than the principal amount, plus any
fixed coupon payments.

Scenario:
4. _T_he stock price declines below the_knock-in Ieve_l, b_L_Jtlends betwe_g_‘n the originai price_and knopk-in level.
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Predetermined number of shares of stock (or cash equivalent) worth less than the principal amount, plus any
fixed coupon payments; or full return of principal in cash, plus any fixed coupon payments, depending on the
issuer and product.

Scenario:

https://www.finra.org/investors/alerts/reverse-convertibles_complex-investment-vehicles 10/24/2015
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At maturity, the investor gets:
Full return of principal in cash, pius any fixed coupon payments, but no participation in the increase in the
stock price.

Generally speaking, the higher the coupon rate the note pays, the higher the expected volatility of the _
reference asset. In turn, the more volatile the reference asset, the greater the fikelihood that the. knock m fevel _
will be breached and the investor could receive less than a full return of principal at matunty (as iltustrated in
cases three and four above). -

The bottom line is that reverse convertibles come not only with the risks that fixed income products ordmar:iy
carry—such as the risk of issuer default and inflation risk—but also with any additional Tisks of underlylng
asset. When the underlying asset is a stock, this means exposure to the business risks of the company as |
well as systemlc equity market risks, mclud:ng price vofatmty i you are considering investing in reverse
convertibles, it is critical that you look beyond the high coupon rate and focus on the risks of the undetlying
asset. Remember that even if the issuer of the reverse convertible is able to meet its obligations on the
note—and even if the yield keeps pace with or surpasses inflation—you could wind up, when the note
matures, with shares of a depreciated—or even worthless-—asset that you otherwise would not have
purchased. If you are not comfortable with the thought of potentiaily owning the underlying asset, you should
not buy a reverse convertible that is based on that agset.

Why Do Investors Buy Reverse Convertibles?

High coupon rate or "stated yield.” Reverse convertibles can offer coupons from 7 percent to
30 percent. Typically. however, a higher coupon rate indicates higher volatility in the underiying
stock or asset. This translates into a greater likelihood that the knock-in fevel wilt be breached
during the term of the reverse convertible and that investors will receive stock {or the current
cash value of the asset} at maturity worth considerably less than the full return of principal in
cash. As a general rule, the higher the offered yield, the greater the risk of fosing all or a portion
of the principal invested.

Expectation of flat markets. Investors who are betting that a stock price will be relatively flat
may expect to do better with a reverse convertible than buying the stock itself. But remember,
the coupon rates for reverse convertibles linked to relatively stable stocks may not be as high as
for those linked to volatile stocks.

https://www.ﬁnra.org/investors/aierts/reverse~convertibles_complex—investment—vehicles 10/24/2015
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Convenience for some investors. Some investors may have a specific strategy in mind that a
reverse convertible can replicate. For example, an investor may believe that a stock will only
trade within a certain range. Instead of buying options or futures separately that together would

allow the investor to profit from that bet, the investor can buy a reverse convertible,

What's the Downside?

Exposure to asset-related risks. When you purchase a reverse convertible you get all the .

risks that debt instruments ordlnaraly entail, plus the risks of the underiylng asset. That is why it

is so critical that you fully comprehend what is behind the higher coupons these products

offer—and that you fully understand the product you are buying. Remember that purchasing a
reverse convertible means you are either bullish on the underlying asset itself or you are betting

that the asset's volatility will be low for the term of the note.

Embedded options. When mvesiing tn a reverse convertible, you effectnveiy buy a note from
the issuer and sell a put option fo the :ssuer szmu%taneousiy lf you don't have the rssk tolerance -
for seilmg put options generally, you should guestion whether you want fo invest in a security
that contains an embedded one. If you are considering reverse convertibies, be sure you fully

understand the complexities of the product and have the financial means to bear the risks.

Fees. Issuers charge an up-front embedded fee to investors~~typically ranging from less than 1
percent to 8 percent or more—ifor assembling and packaging a reverse convertible's individual
components. Prospectuses may call this fee "built-in costs” or "costs of hedging,” although the

exact amount is not typically disclosed to the investor. Industry experts say that it is all but .
impossible for individual. mvesiors to determine the size of this embedded fee (and therefore

whether the reverse_convertible.represents a good deal), because that would require dissecting
the reverse convertible's parts and determining what it would cost for the investor to obtain and

assemble them.

Investor Tip—Be Sure to Adjust for Annualized Yields

While yields on reverse convertibles are often described on an annualized basis, fees are often expressed
only for the term of the note. 1t is important that you consider how these numbers are described—and, if
necessary, do a iittle math so you can make an apples-to-apples comparison of yields and fees, For
example, a sales brochure for a 3-month instrument might advertise a yield of 10 percent per year and a

fee of 1.5 percent, which is embedded in the $1,000 price of the produc’f This is not as attract:ve asit may '_
sound, because a 1.5 percent fee on a 3-month product amounts to a 6 percent fee on an annualized .

basis.

Potential liquidity risk. As is the case with virtually all structured products, secondary trading -
for reverse convertibles will generally be limited—which means reverse convertibles can be

highly iftiquid. Even if the issuer of a reverse convertible states that it intends to maintain a
secondary market, it is not required to do so. This means that you could have trouble selling

reverse convertibles in a pinch and/or could lose money if you sell the reverse convertible prior
to maturity. Finally, transaction costs in the secondary market for these products could be high.

Credit quality. A reverse convertible is an unsecured senior debt obtligation of the issuer,
meaning that the issuer is obligated to make the interest payments and final payments as

https://www finra.org/investors/alerts/reverse-convertibles_complex-investment-vehicles

10/24/2015
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promised. These promises, including any principal protection, are only as good as the financial
nealth of the issuer that gives them and that issuer's ability to meet its obligations when they
come due. While it is not a common occurrence that an issuer of a reverse convertible is unable
to meet its obligations, it can happen.

Credit Ratings—They May Not Mean What You Think They Mean

Credit ratings are a way of assessing defau!t and credit risk—in other words, the creditworthiness of the
issuer. While the note component of a reverse converzuble carries the i tssuers credit rating, that ratmg does A
not reflect the risk that the price of the unrelated under]ymg asset will fall below the knock-in level, resultmg L
in a loss of princi pai A reverse convertible packaged by a highly rated issuer could be linked to a poorly
rated company—or to a highly rated company whose stock performs paorly,

For more information on credit ratings, read FINRA's Bonds information.

Tax considerations. The tax treatment of reverse convertibles is complicated and uncertain.
Investors should consuit with their tax advisors and read the tax risk disclosures in their
prospectuses and other offering documents. Although these documents typically provide
nstructions on how investors should treat reverse convertibles on their tax returns, there is no
guarantee that the IRS or a court would agree with that tax treatment. Little guidance in the way
of court decisions or published IRS rulings has been issued on this topic. When considering the
tax consequences of any investment, you may want to consult with a tax advisor.

Call risk. Some reverse convertibles have "call provisions" that allow the issuer, at its sole
discretion, to redeem the investment before it matures. If this is the case, you would not receive
any subsequent coupon payments that you were promised for the term of the reverse
convertible, and you would immediately receive your principal in either cash or stock. Also, if a
feverse convertible is called, it might be difficult or impossible to find an equivalent investment
paying rates as high as the original rate (which is known as reinvestment risk}. You should
carefully read the prospectus to learn whether there is a call provision and what its specific
terms are.

Loss of principal. While some other structured products may offer principal protection, réverse__ .
convertibles do not. The only potential protection against loss they might offer is the conditional
downside protection of the knock-in price. Depending on whether the price of the underlying

stock or asset breaches the knock-in fevel, you could lose some—or even all—of your principal,
You may be toid that, in a down market, you at least "walk away with something." But don't

forget that the stock you receive in the case of a breach could, for exampie, be shares in a
company that is about to declare bankruptcy-~or that you don't want to own or doesn't make
sense for your circumstances. This risk is why research must be done on the underlying asset
and why you should think twice about owning a reverse convertible if you are not comfortabie

with the thought of potentially owning the underlying asset.

Conflicts of interest. An issuer may conduct activities that could represent conflicts of interest
with respect to investors of its reverse convertibles. For example, the issuer might engage in
regutar business activities with the company whose stock is the underlying asset, such as
investment banking, asset management or other advisory services and writing research reports
about the company. An affiliate of the issuer, for example, might publish research reports that
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are unfavorable fo the stock and could hurt the performance of a reverse convertible that is
linked to that stock.

How to Protect Yourself

Be wary of any advertisements or sales fiterature suggesting that reverse convertibles are safe
and suitable for investors seeking high yields. These sales pitches may play up the high yield on
the note and play down the risk of the derivative component.

If you are considering a reverse convertible, you face at least two risks—that the stock or other
asset will go down in value, and that the issuer will be unable to repay its obligation on the note.
Before taking on these risks, be sure to ask your broker plenty of questions, such as:

Can you review the prospectus, prospectus supplement or offering circular for the
preduct with me? (The prospectus will contain a more extensive and balanced
discussion of the risks involved. You should always carefully review the prospectus
prior to making any investment decision.)

Given my investment objectives, is this product suitable for my account?

Do | get interest or other cash payments, and if so, how much and how often? What
are the risks that | might not receive tham?

What are the risks of the underlying asset? How volatile has this asset been
recently? Be aware that while past performance can never guarantee future resuits,
looking at historical price information (to the extent it is available} can help you
assess the volatility of the underlying asset.

What is the likelihood that the reverse convertible breaches the knock-in-level, such
that | might receive the underlying asset (or cash equivalent} instead of the return of
my principal at maturity? If | end up owning the asset, how does that asset fit in with
my investment objectives?

Is there an active market in this security if | need to sefl it before its maturity? If so,
what risk of logs might there be?

Can this product be called? If so, what will | receive?
Are there any other risks related to this product?
What are all the fees and expenses associated with this product?
How is the investment treated for tax purposes, and what are the effects on my
taxes of any principal and interest payments?
Always remember;

Higher yields go hand-in- glove with greater risk. Reverse convertibles are complex, -
nsky pfoducts that do not offer principal protecl on. They are not plain vanilla bond
investments, and they are not right for every investor.
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Consider whether you would independently invest in the underlying asset.
Remernber that you. are effect ively giving the issuer a put, allowing the | ISSUE}I’ %o
return your prmmpal in the form of the depreciated asset if the asset's value goes
down. If you are not comfortable with the concept of writing a put option—and if you
would not independently want to purchase the underlying asset—then think twice
about investing in a reverse convertible.

Read the prospectus, offering circutar and sales literature very carefully. Reverse
convertibles are complex financial instruments that vary from product to product.

Make sure you are comparing apples with appies when you are sizing up the fees
and stated yields, If yields are described on an annuahzed basis, be sure to do the =
math to determine the actual amount of the fees on the same basis. When
annualized, yields tend to sound higher.

Typically the stated yield that Js advemsed is the mammum return that yo& Could
achieve. on the product in the best circumstances—not a guaranteed return or even
a likely return. In particutar, you might not achieve the stated yield if you end up
receiving stock instead of cash. And you may receive substantially less—or possibly
more—if you hold the stock and sell it at a Jater date. Be sure you understand what
the advertised yields or returns really mean.

For the typical retail investor, it would be unwise to put a significant portion of life
savings into riskier structured products such as reverse convertibles. These types of
products are not for everyone. Make sure you stick with the bedrock principle of
diversification.

{f you do not fully understand the product, reconsider your decision to invest in it.

If You Run Into a Problem

It you have a complaint concerning a securities professional, you should contact his or her supervisor or the
firm's compliance department or senior management. You may also file a complaint with respect to a
brokerage firm or broker using FINRA's Complaint Center. For other financial professionals, such as
registered investment advisers, you can tum to their regulators, generally either the Securities and Exchange
Commission or your state securities regulator.

Additional Resources
Reguiatory Notice 10-09, Reverse Convertibles
Regutatory Notice 05-59, Structured Products
To receive the latest investor Alerts and other important investor information sign up for Invesior News.

Last Updated: July 29, 2011

Sitemap | Privacy | Legal
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2815 FINRA.
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